IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

NOV 25 1991

CLERK SUPREME COURTE

Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT 8. POWER, JR.,
Appellant,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NUMBER: 77,157

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER **S.** QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. **0294632** CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS **112** Orange Avenue, Suite C Daytona Beach, Florida **32114 (904) 252-3367**

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 24, 1989, the 1988, Fall Term Grand Jury, Ninth Judicial Circuit, Orange County, Florida, returned a five count indictment charging Robert Bueller Power with murder in the first-degree (§782.04, Fla. Stat.]; sexual battery (§794.011(3), Fla. Stat.]; kidnapping of a child under the age of thirteen (§787.01(3)(a), Fla. Stat.]; armed burglary of a dwelling (§810.02(2), Fla. Stat.]; and, armed robbery (§812.13(2)(a), Fla. Stat.] (R2676-78)

Numerous pre-trial motions were filed in this case, only some of which are pertinent to this direct appeal. Additionally, the trial court made many evidentiary rulings during the dourse of these proceedings. The pertinent motions and issues will be noted in the argument portion of the brief.

Pursuant to a defense motion, the trial judge changed venue to Lee County. (R2824-36,2973-4)

On June 2, 1990, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on all five counts. (R3110-14) Following a penalty phase, the jury recommended the execution of Robert Bueller Power, Jr. (R2344-2606,3254)

On November 8, 1990, the trial court concurred in the jury's recommendation and imposed a death sentence. The court found four aggravating circumstances and two mitigating circumstances. (R3258-74) The trial court

sentenced Power to life imprisonment on the other four counts. (R3257,3275-79)

Power filed a timely notice of appeal on December 4, 1990.

(R3295-6) The trial court denied Power's previously filed motion for new trial and supplemental motion for new trial. (R3115-18,3120-22,3297) The state filed a notice of cross-appeal on November 19, 1990, and another on December 21, 1990. (R3292,3298) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, \$3 (b) (1), Fla. Const.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In October, 1987, the Bare family lived at 7622 Boice Street in Orlando, Florida. On October 6, Gary Lee Bare, a/k/a Butch Bare left the house at 7:20 a.m. and drove his son Dustin to school. Gary arrived at his dive shop about 7:45. (R655-8) Margaret Lynn Bare left the house about 7:15 that morning in order to drop off some repaired wet suits at Sea World. She returned to the house about 8:15 a.m. Margaret found her twelve-year-old daughter, Angeli, still at home putting on her makeup. Margaret did some chores around the house for approximately thirty minutes, while Angeli prepared for school. Margaret left the house and headed for the family business at approximately 8:35 a.m. (R698-705)

As was his usual practice, Frank Miller, a friend of the Bares, left his house at approximately 8:45 a.m. that morning with his own daughter and drove the four to five blocks to the Bare residence. When he arrived at the house, Miller honked his horn twice. He then glanced at the house where he saw a man standing inside the doorway with his back to the street. Miller assumed that the man was Butch Bare, since he was approximately the same build. The man in the doorway made a gesture which Miller interpreted as, "Wait a minute." Miller remained in his car and, when he next looked, noticed that the front door was closed with no one in sight. In a couple of minutes, Angeli came out of the house and walked down the front walk toward Miller's car. She was dressed for school and did not appear disheveled. She approached the passenger side of the car (which was the side closest to the

house), came within three or four feet of Miller's car, and stopped. At that point, Miller noticed that Angeli appeared very nervous.

Angeli told Miller that there was a man in the house who she believed wanted to rob her. Miller told Angeli to get into his car immediately, but she refused. Miller asked her three or four more times, but she remained steadfast. Angeli asked Miller if his car could "beat a bullet." Miller answered negatively, and Angeli explained that, if she got into the car, the man in the house would kill all three of them. Miller replied that he would go get help and, as good as his word, he drove back to his house and called the Bares at their shop. At the Bare's suggestion, Miller also called 911. Miller then drove back and parked four or five houses away from the Bare's home. (R727-40)

Orange County Deputy Sheriff Richard Welty received a radio dispatch at approximately 9:10 a.m. and drove to 7622 Boise Street. En route, Frank Miller flagged down Deputy Welty and related what he had observed a few minutes before. Miller described the man he had seen as a white male with reddish hair. (R753-63) Mr. and Mrs. Bare arrived as Miller described the man to Welty. Mrs. Bare revealed that Angeli's biological father, who lived in California, also had reddish hair. (R763-4)

Deputy Welty went to the Bare home and searched it. He noticed nothing unusual other than the strong odor of urine in one of the bedrooms. (R764-6) Corporal Lewis arrived at the Bare home as Welty was leaving. Corporal Lewis stayed at the house, while Deputy Welty went to check the field in back of the canal area behind the Bare home. (R766) Welty had to walk around the front of the house next door, so he could get to the field on the other side of the canal. (R767-8) Welty looked for, but saw no drag marks or footprints in the canal area. He then scanned the wooded field, but saw no movement. Welty walked west into an area filled with heavy brush and trees. He followed a path with his revolver drawn in one hand and his two-way radio in the other. The footing was rather treacherous, due to the shrubbery, rotting wood, garbage, and holes. Welty holstered his gun as a safety

precaution. (R768-9) Welty was concerned about his gun accidentally discharging, since the field was adjacent to areas of great human activity. In addition to the rush-hour traffic on South Orange Blossom Trail, Welty noticed many laborers at a construction sight immediately south of the field. (R769) As Welty proceeded down the path, he noticed a white male with sandy blond hair walking casually through the field wearing a dungaree-style, button-up shirt with the long sleeves rolled up to his elbows. The man also sported worn blue jeans. He had what appeared to be a sandwich in his right hand. When Welty first observed the man he was approximately sixty-five yards away walking toward the construction site. Apparently due to the terrain, the man was "high-stepping' through the field. (R769-71,783,867-74)

Since Welty was looking for a man with red hair, he barely gave the individual in the field a second thought. (R876-7) Welty called Corporal Lewis on his radio and asked for a better description. (R772) While talking on the radio, Welty became unsure of his footing, looked down and, when he looked up again, found himself looking at the man he had seen earlier now pointing a gun at him. (R774-5) Welty subsequently identified that individual as Robert Power.

Power told Welty to hand over his sidearm. Welty described Power's gun as either a nine millimeter or a .45 caliber semi-automatic pistol. (R774-5) Welty thrust his hands into the air and slowly reached for his pistol. Power then ordered Welty's hands into the air once again and retrieved Welty's pistol himself. (R774-82) Power asked Welty, "How many others are there?" Deputy Welty lied and told Power that there were six deputies on the scene. After a lengthy pause, Power asked for and received Welty's radio. Power then ordered the deputy to run in the direction of the construction site, and warned him, "If you turn around, I will kill you." Welty jogged about thirty feet, stopped, looked back, and saw Power running

About a week after the murder, police developed Power as a suspect. Welty selected a photo of a much younger, clean-shaven Robert Power from a photographic line-up (his picture appeared first). (R836-7,1251-66,1261-4; state's #70)

west very hard and fast towards U.S. **441** (South Orange Blossom Trail). West was also the same general direction where Angeli Bare's body was found later that morning. (R779-82)

Welty ran back to the Bare home and reported that the culprit had his radio and service revolver. The police set up a perimeter and, constantly changing radio channels, sealed the area. (R784-5) Despite establishing at least a partial perimeter within a minute after Welty's return to the Bare home, police were unable to apprehend the fleeing suspect. (R582-6)

It was late morning or early afternoon (R524,568-9,574) before authorities found the body of Angeli Bare in the tall grass of the field behind her home. (R561-78) Deputy Otterbacker was less than ten feet from the body before he was able to see it through the vegetation. (R575-6) The body was lying on its right side, gagged, and "hog-tied" by the wrists and ankles. The body was nude from the waist down. (R455-73,1091-97,1105-6)

Evidence technicians wrapped the body in a shroud to preserve trace evidence and transported it to the medical examiner's office for an autopsy. (R1097-8) The victim's left eye was blackened. The medical examiner also found superficial contusions on her neck. (R1108-9) In the medical examiner's opinion, the death of Angeli Bare resulted from shock following exsanguination due to the severance of the right carotid artery. The artery was cut by a stab wound on the right side of her neck. (R1112-15) The autopsy also revealed injuries to the vaginal and anal area. (R1116-17) The doctor opined that these injuries were the result of the insertion of an oversized foreign object, perhaps a human penis. (R1118) The doctor approximated the time of death as 9:15 a.m. with thirty minutes leeway either side. (R1137-8) The crime lab serologist found no semen on the victim's underwear. (R1606-10) Vaginal, rectal, and oral swabs revealed no spermatozoa. (R1613-15) Blood stains found on the victim's underwear were the same blood type as the victim. (R1610-11,1615-17)

Using Officer Welty as his source, Neil McDonald, a composite artist with the Orlando Police Department, prepared a sketch of the man Welty

saw in the field. The team made further refinements of the sketch in the two days following the crime. (R1029-71, State's Exhibits #48 and #54) Both composites were exhibited by the media throughout the Central Florida area. (R1049)

Police conducted a thorough search of the Bare home. They found no signs of a struggle, nor of forced entry. (R598,602,609) Angeli 8are's bed had a rubber sheet on it with some damp sheets, smelling of urine, piled in a heap. (R606-7;State's Exhibit 38) Angeli's bank had been pried open (R671-5), and a screwdriver was found in the kitchen sink. (R671) The crime scene technicians gathered voluminous amounts of evidence. They attempted to lift latent prints from a multitude of items in the house. Using the laser beam technique, the cyanoachrlick glue method, the dye method, in addition to more mundane tests, the team found many latent prints. (R611-13) None of them matched Robert Power. (R611-13,972-89,1073-89) Latent fingerprints found on Officer Welty's service revolver found in the field near the scene of the robbery, also did not match Robert Power. (R455-500,976)²

The body of the victim was also carefully scrutinized in an attempt to obtain any trace evidence. Police found no latent fingerprints of any kind on the body even though they used the laser technique, the superglue process, the silver iodine transfer method, and the black magnetic powder process. (R955-8)

Police eventually developed Robert Power as a suspect.

Approximately ten days after the murder, Officer Welty selected an eight-yearold photograph of a clean-shaven Robert Power. (R836-7,842-3,1251-6,1261-4;

State's #70) Power's photograph was the first in the line-up.

On October 14, 1987, a swat team executed a search warrant at the residence located at 2220 Vine Street. Robert Power lived at this house with his mother, her youngest daughter, her oldest son, that son's wife and their three children. [Defense Exhibit #3 (Osceola suppression hearing) p.489)

² Officer Welty testified that the man who robbed him of his gun in the field behind the Bare home was <u>not</u> wearing gloves. (R889)

Robert Power was found in the attic and arrested. (R1268-79) Police seized a maroon duffle bag from the attic which was in close proximity to Power. (R1288-9) The duffle bag contained a pistol, some ammunition, a pair of tan driving gloves, a red bandanna, at least three documents with Robert Power's name on them, and a folding knife. (R1334-43,1566-7)

Police found a Yahtzee box in the front bedroom, just inside the jalousie door that the swat team broke to gain entrance. (R1281-5,1301-2) The box contained a multitude of various electronic parts, one of which ostensibly was from the inside of Welty's stolen radio. (R753-6,779-82,795-834,1227-31,1319-24,1572-82) An exhaustive examination of the Yahtzee box revealed numerous latent fingerprints, none of which matched Robert Power's. The crime lab was unable to find any useful latent prints on the radio parts inside the box. (R1227-33) Police also seized some green, hooded sweatshirts and several denim, work shirts from the front bedroom. (R1343-6) According to two of the state's experts, two of three head hairs recovered from the sweatshirts were "consistent" with the known standards from Angeli Bare. (R1534,1629-75) The witness could not say that the "matched" hairs belonged to Angeli Bare to the exclusion of all others. (R1562)

Police also carefully combed the Bare home for evidence pointing to Robert Power's guilt. As previously mentioned, police found no fingerprints in the Bare home or on the body that matched Robert Power. However, according to the State's experts, three pubic hairs from Angeli's bedspread were indistinguishable from Power's known pubic hairs. (R1535,1629-75) Also, one pubic hair from Angeli's fitted bed sheet was indistinguishable from Power's. (R1538,1629-75) Additionaly, a single hair recovered during the autopsy from Angeli's pubic area was indistinguishable from Robert Power's pubic hair. (R1538, 1629-75)³

Even the State's experts agreed that a number of head hairs of unknown origin found in the sheets of Angeli's bedding did not match Power's.

³ Again, these conclusions were made by two state witnesses. A defense expert found that none of the questioned hairs could have come from Power.

(R1546-7,1565) The crime lab analyst did not find any of Robert Power's head hair in Angeli's bedding or clothing. (R1550) Numerous hairs recovered from the bedding and clothing remained unidentified at the time of trial.

(R1550,1565) Robert Power's pubic hair was the only adult pubic hair compared to the foreign hair recovered from Angeli's pubic region. (R1547-8)

The state experts admitted that hair evidence was unlike fingerprint or DNA evidence. Hair experts can only conclude that a hair originated from a particular person or someone else whose hair displayed exactly the same characteristics. (R1539-41,1556-7) Unlike fingerprints and DNA evidence, one person's hair can be indistinguishable from another person's. The state experts insisted that finding hair indistinguishable from the victim's in Robert Power's home coupled with the finding of hair indistinguishable from Robert Power's on the victim and in her bedding, resulted in a stronger association. The "cross-transfer" of two supposedly random events allegedly strengthen the association of Robert Power with the victim. (R1541-2)

A witness qualified as an expert in the area of hair analysis testified for the defense concluding that none of the hairs found on the victim or in her bedding originated from Robert Power. (R1695-1803) The two hairs found on the green sweatshirt recovered from Power's home were more heavily pigmented and were not quite as flattened as the victim's hair. (R1735-6) Additionally, the victim's hair had surface deposits, probably of a cosmetic nature, while the sweatshirt hair was quite clean. (R1736) The pubic hair recovered from the victim's bedding was more pigmented than Power's and lacked discontinuous medulla, which Power's contained. (R1739) Additionally, the unknown pubic hairs had smoothly pointed distal ends with no surface features on the tips. In contrast, Power's pubic hair was moderately kinked and some contained no medulla, while others contained fragmented medulla. The hairs recovered from the victim's bedding contained discontinuous medulla. (R1740-1) The defense hair expert also found a number of dissimilarities when comparing Power's hair with the foreign hair recovered from the victim's body.

(R1742-7) Although he admitted that there was a possibility that the foreign hair originally belonged to Robert Power, it probably did not. (R1745-9)

Penalty Phase

At the penalty phase, the state presented the testimony of four witnesses. Their testimony revealed that Robert Power committed an armed robbery in 1979 and pleaded guilty. (R2386-95) In September, 1987, he committed sexual batteries on three different victims. (R2396-2427) The state submitted documents establishing that Power had been convicted of these offenses and several other violent felonies. (R2375-85; State's Exhibits number 108,109,110,111) The documents also clearly established that Power was to serve, inter alia, at least eight consecutive life sentences. (State's Exhibit #111)

When the state was unsuccessful in its attempt to prevent the defense from presenting the videotaped, perpetuated testimony of Dr. Sashi Gore, the prosecutor chose to introduce the testimony himself. (R2427-32) Dr. Gore opined that the bruise around the victim's eye and the injuries to her vaginal and anal area occurred prior to her death. (R3310-11) The doctor was unable to tell whether the head injury occurred prior to the vaginal and anal injuries. (R3317) If the head injury occurred first, the victim could very well have been unconscious during the sexual battery and at the time of the stabbing. (R3313-17) If she had been unconscious, she would not have felt any pain. (R3317) The doctor admitted that it was just as likely as not that the victim felt no pain.

The defense presented an expert in the areas of sociology, criminology, and capital sentencing. (R2468) Dr. Radelet pointed out that Power had already been sentenced to ten consecutive life sentences followed by 200 years incarceration. (R2473-7) All of these cases had been appealed and affirmed. (R2507) Dr. Radelet explained the concept of life sentences with a minimum-mandatory twenty-five years without parole and also expalined the abolition of parole. (R2479-80) Dr. Radelet expressed a very strong opinion that Power would never be released from prison. (R2482-3) Dr. Radelet

testified about several United States studies which all revealed that the cost of life imprisonment is about one-sixth the cost of execution. (R2514) Dr. Radelet told the jury that sixty percent of this Court's time is spent on the review of capital cases. The appellate system is extremely expensive, time-consuming, and frustrating to taxpayers. (R2522) Dr. Radelet was allowed to testify without objection that lawyers handling capital appeals for both the defense and the state are typically well-paid. (R2522-3)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Mr. Power challenges the sufficiency of the evidence. The State attempted to link Power to the murder using only seven hairs. As the experts testified, hair comparison evidence is not a positive means of identification. Power's proximity to the body is insufficient in this case.

Reversible error occurred when the trial court failed to sequester the jury. Additionally, Power challenges the venire due to the under-representation of African-Americans. Power also objected to the complete absence of any venireman that expressed any qualms whatsoever about the death penalty.

In a case as circumstantial as this one, the prosecutor committed reversible error when, during closing argument, he pointed out Power's failure to "explain away" the few circumstances that pointed towards Power's guilt.

Power challenges the admissibility of certain hearsay evidence that erroneously indicated that Power possessed a radio part stolen from Deputy Welty.

There was insufficient evidence of Power's flight to justify a flight instruction. This Court has recently pointed out that, the hasty departure from the scene of a crime, is insufficient to warrant a jury instruction on flight.

In an unfortunate incident during the trial, a bailiff "drew down" on Robert Power in full view of the jury. The bailiff's unwarranted action clearly suggested to the jury that Robert Power was an extremely dangerous and

untrustworthy individual.

Frank Miller was the only witness to actually see the assailant at the Bare home. At trial he gave a vague description, but could not recall the color of the man's hair. Deputy Welty was allowed to testify that Miller told him that the individual had red hair. This testimony constituted blatant hearsay and should have been excluded.

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