IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 25 1991

SID J. WHITE

H H

ROBERT B. POWER, JR.,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

CASE NO. 77,157

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

__/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/ INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

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

The trial court excluded a report showing there was blood on the knife and instructed the jury that defense counsel's comments regarding blood on the knife were incorrect. Defense counsel agreed to the instruction which Power now claims was a comment on

- 33 -

the evidence (R 1602). The issue is waived. <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So,2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

Power also claims the trial court erred in admitting the gun and gloves found in the maroon bag which was next to him when he was arrested. Trial counsel objected that the evidence was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. Deputy Welty testified he did not see gloves on Power's hands and that Power had a light to medium tan (R 889). The gloves were tan. The gloves were seized in Power's bag that he had while hiding in the attic. The gloves were relevant to show Power possessed items which would explain the lack of fingerprints in the Bare residence and on the gun. Whether Deputy Welty saw the gloves or Power had them on when he robbed the deputy is a question of fact for the jury. See Grossman, supra. The fact Power possessed and was concealing a gun is relevant because Angeli was threatened at gunpoint and Welty was robbed at gunpoint. The fact the gun, gloves and knife were in Power's possession when he was hiding establishes Power had available the items he used in the murder and was indicative of his method of operation. The items were relevant to the identity of the perpetrator.

The trial court has broad discretion in the admission of evidence. <u>Welty v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981). Unless an abuse of discretion can be shown its ruling will not be disturbed. <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988). Defense counsel attacked the gun, gloves and knife in closing argument (R 2003). He argued that Welty described the gun as a brown-tinted, .45 semi-automatic (R 2008) or a nine millimeter (R

- 34 -

2011), and that Welty had great difficulty with the gun (R 2013). Counsel argued the knife seized from Power was not the murder weapon (R 2030-2031). He attacked the gloves (R 2033). Error, if any, was harmless. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

All evidence presented by the State is prejudicial to a defendant. Evidence is only excluded where unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value. 890.403, Fla. Stat. (1989). Where a trial court has weighed probative value against prejudicial impact an appellate court will not overturn that decision absent a clear abuse of discretion. Eleming v. State, 457 So.2d 499, 501-502 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Pulliam v. State, 446 So.2d 1172, 1173 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

POINT X

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT RESTRICT CROSS-EXAMINATION.

Power claims cross-examination was restricted when he was precluded from impeaching Officer Welty on information left out of his report. Defense counsel had pointed out that Welty's report did not mention unusual hair color, the state objected, and the trial court instructed the jury to disregard the statement (R 855-57, 877). Trial counsel did not specifically object that cross-exam was restricted and this issue was not preserved for appellate review. <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1990); <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 578 So.2d 685, 689 n.4 (Fla. 1990).

Section 90.612, Florida Statutes (1989), provides that the judge shall exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of the interrogation of witnesses and presentation of evidence so as to facilitate discovery of the truth, avoid needless consumption of time and protect witnesses from harassment. The rule also provides that cross examination is limited to subject matter brought out on direct examination and to matters affecting credibility.

The trial court has broad discretion in the admission of evidence. <u>Welty v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); <u>Demps v.</u> <u>State</u>, **395** So.2d 501 (Fla. 1981). Unless an abuse of discretion can be shown, its ruling will not be disturbed. <u>Hardwick v.</u> <u>State</u>, 521 So.2d **1071** (Fla. **1988).** Power was afforded ample opportunity to cross-examine each witness. He is not entitled to

- 36 -

unlimited cross-examination in whatever way and to whatever extent the defense might wish. <u>Kentucky v. Stincer</u>, **482** U.S. **730**, **107** S.Ct. **2658**, **2664** (1987), quoting Delaware v. Fensterer, **474** U.S. **15**, **20**, **106** S.Ct. **292**, **295**, **88** L.Ed. **2d 15** (1985). In <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, **412** So.2d **332** (Fla. **1982**), this court recognized that an accused has a constitutional right to full and fair cross-examination. However, that right is not unlimited. Questions on cross-examination must be related to credibility, or to matters brought out on direct examination. <u>Steinhorst</u> at **337**. Even assuming for the sake of argument that this ruling was error, it was harmless. In <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdall</u>, **475** U.S.

673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed. 2d 676 (1986), the Court said:

The correct inquiry is whether, assuming that the damaging potential of the crossexamination were fully realized, a reviewing court might nonetheless say that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors, all readily accessible to reviewing courts. These factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or of corroborating evidence absence or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of crossexamination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case. <u>Cf</u>. <u>Harrington</u>, **395** U.S. at 254, 89 S.Ct., at 1728; <u>Schneble v.</u> Florida, 405 U.S., at 432, 92 S.Ct., at 1059.

Power has not demonstrated the trial court abused his discretion in excluding the evidence. <u>Cruse v. State</u>, **16** F.L.W. **\$702** (Fla. Oct. **24**, **1991**).

Although Power attempts to distinguish <u>State v. Johnson</u>, **284 So.2d 198** (Fla. **1973)**, that case held that police reports should <u>not</u> be used for impeachment as to an omission in a report. <u>Id</u>. at 200. <u>Johnson</u> allowed impeachment only in the restricted **sense** outlined in that case and only within the trial court's sound discretion. <u>Id</u>. at 200-201.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion. <u>See Hardwick</u> <u>v. State</u>, 521 So,2d 1071, 1075 (Fla. 1988); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 580 So,2d 143, 145 (Fla. 1991); <u>Banda v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 221, 224 (Fla. 1988); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1988).

POINT XI

THE INTRODUCTION OF AN AUTOPSY PHOTOGRAPH DID NOT DENY POWER A FAIR TRIAL.

Defense counsel objected to exhibit #65, The photograph was necessary for the medical examiner to describe the stretching and contusion in the vaginal and anal areas. It was also relevant to show the contusions on the inner thighs. The photograph was cited in the trial court's findings of facts as showing the abrasions (R 3265). The photograph was relevant to the offense of sexual battery and to the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel. Power cites Hoffert v. State, 559 So.2d 1246 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936, 940 (Fla. 1984); and Alvord v. State, 307 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1975), to support In Hoffert, the photograph depicted the internal his position. portion of the victim's head after an incision had been made from behind the ears to the top of the head, with the scalp rolled away revealing flesh. The photograph was cumulative to other testimony and evidence. In Bush photographs of a blow-up of the victim's bloody face at the morgue and a close-up of the gunshot wound to the head were admissible and this court stated:

> The test of admissibility of photographs in situations such as this is relevancy and not necessity. Photographs are admissible where they assist the medical examiner in explaining to the jury the nature and manner in which the wounds were inflicted. Welty **v**. <u>State</u>, 402 So.2d 1159, 1163 (Fla. 1981); Bauldree v. State, 284 So.2d 196, 197 (Fla. In the instant case, exhibit twenty-1973). one was used in order to assist the medical explaining the external examiner in This exhibit was examination of the victim. clearly admissible as an aid in illustrating

to the jury what the examiner observed during his examination. Exhibit fifteen, though taken away from the scene, is treated no differently than exhibit twenty-one. We have repeatedly stated that:

[T]he current position of this Court is that allegedly gruesome and inflammatory photographs are admissible into evidence if relevant to any issue required to be proven in a case. Relevancy is to be determined in the normal manner, that is, without regard to any special characterization of the proffered evidence. Under this conception, the issues cumulative", of "whether or "whether photographed away from the scene, " are routine issues basic to a determination of relevancy and not issues arising from any "exceptional nature" of the proffered evidence. State v. Wainwright, 265 362 So,2d 361, (Fla. See Herringer v. 1972)(emphasis supplied). State, 251 \$0.2d 862, 864 (Fla. 1971); and <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 339 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1976). Bush argues that exhibit fifteen was unduly prejudicial because it was gruesome and may have made a crucial difference in the jury's recommendation in this case. In Williams v. State, 228 So,2d 377 (Fla. 1969), this Court noted that similarly gruesome photographs depicted a view which was "neither gory nor inflammatory beyond the simple fact that no photograph of a dead body is pleasant." **Id**. at 379.

<u>Bush</u> at 939-40. Similarly, the photographs in <u>Alvord</u> were admissible.

The photographs of the victim were relevant and admissible. <u>Patterson v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1987); <u>Grossman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988). The trial court found the photographs to be not unusually gruesome, but even if they were, that would not affect admissibility. If a photograph is relevant to an issue to be decided in a case, the fact that it is gruesome and offensive does not bar admissibility. <u>Adams v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982). The evidence was not unfairly prejudicial. <u>Swafford v. State</u>, **533** So.2d 270 (Fla. **1988**). In <u>Henderson v. State</u>, **463** So.2d **196**, **199** (Fla. **1985**) this Court allowed photographs of partially decomposed bodies and stated that "those whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments". Id. at 200. <u>See also</u>, <u>Burns v. State</u>, **16** FLW **5389** (Fla. May **16**, **1991**) (color slides of the victim in charred state); <u>Haliburton</u> <u>v. State</u>, **561** So.2d **248** (Fla. **1990**) (used by medical examiner to illustrate the nature of the victim's wounds). The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

POINT XII

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN JURY SELECTION TO JUSTIFY A NEW TRIAL.

Power claims he should have been allowed fifty peremptory challenges, but was allowed only nine. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.350 provides:

Each party shall be allowed the following number of peremptory challenges:

(a) Ten, if the offense charged is punishable by death or imprisonment for life;

(e) If an indictment or information contains two or more counts or if two or more indictments or informations are consolidated for trial, the defendant shall be allowed the number of peremptory challenges which would be permissible in a single case, but in the interest of justice the judge may use his judicial discretion in extenuating circumstances to grant additional challenges to the accumulate maximum based on the number of charges or cases included when it appears that there is a possibility that the State or the defendant may be prejudiced. The State and the defendant shall be allowed an equal number of challenges.

The Rules of Criminal Procedure govern the procedure in all criminal proceedings in State courts. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.010. Power was charged with first degree murder and entitled to ten peremptory challenges. <u>See</u>, <u>Mendyk v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 846, 849 (Fla. 1989). The trial court did not abuse its discretion. Parker v. State, 456 So.2d 436 (Fla. 1984).

Power next claims the trial judge erred in refusing to sequester the jury. He cites various reasons for sequestration but admits the trial judge followed through on each potential situation to insure there was no possibility of error. He has presented no evidence the "community was clamoring for a conviction and death sentence". Power has shown no abuse of discretion or prejudice. Sequestration of a jury is within the discretion of the trial court absent a showing of harm or prejudice to the defense. <u>Banda v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 221, 224 (Fla. 1988).

Power argues the trial court erred in overruling his objection regarding the absence of African-Americans and deathsentence-opposed jurors on the venire. Power claims using voter registration rolls to select the venire resulted in an underrepresentation of African-Americans. Although the legislature has enacted legislation effective January 1, 1991 which provides jurors shall be selected from those who possess drivers licenses (Ch. 91-235, S.B. 678), the law which controlled at the time of Power's trial specified that jurors be taken from those persons registered to vote. §40.02, Fla. Stat. (1989). The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in overruling defense counsel's objection (R 67). Power further recognizes he must show some systematic exclusion in the jury selection process and admits he cannot show this (Initial Brief at 51-52).

Power also argues he was prejudiced that no juror in the first sixty-one jurors opposed the death penalty but cites no case law or reason on which to base his claim of error. There is no merit to this claim. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the motions. <u>See</u>, <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990). Error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1986). Power has failed to show any juror who actually sat was not impartial. <u>See Ross v. Oklahoma</u>, 487 U.S. 81, 108 S.Ct. 2273, 101 L.Ed.2d 180 (1988). The Constitution entitles the defendant to a fair trial not a perfect one. Id. at 108 S.Ct. 2280, citing <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdale</u>, 475 U.S. 673, 681, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1436, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986).

POINT XIII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING TWO SPECIAL JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

Power requested a special instruction regarding hair comparisons and circumstantial evidence.

The trial court does not abuse its discretion in rejecting instructions beyond those contained in the standard iurv instructions. Mendyk v. State, 545 So.2d 846, 850 (Fla. 1989). The trial court gave the former standard instruction on circumstantial evidence which he was not required to give but did so at the request of defense counsel. See Rembert v. State, 445 337⁵³(Fla. 1984). So.2d The requested instructions were not standard instructions. A refusal to deviate from the standard instructions is not improper. Dufour v. State, 495 So.2d 154, 163 (Fla. 1980). A trial judge "walks a fine line indeed" in departing from the standard instructions. See Kelley v. State, 486 So,2d 578, 584 (Fla, 1986). The trial court did not abuse its discretion. King v. State, 514 So,2d 354 (Fla. 1987). Defense counsel argued the weight to be given hair analysis and circumstantial evidence in closing argument. This renders any error harmless. Seckington v. State, 424 So.2d 194 (Fla, 5th DCA).

POINT XIV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN LIMITING POWER'S ATTEMPTS TO EXPLAIN DR. RADELET'S BIAS.

Power complains that the trial court would not allow him to rehabilitate Dr. Radelet after the state impeached the witness regarding bias. This issue is not preserved since counsel did not proffer the testimony he claims was excluded. §90.104(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989); <u>Woodson v. State</u>, 483 So.2d 858 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). Neither did defense counsel object to the prosecutor's closing argument (R 2583). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in sustaining the state objections. Supposedly Dr. Radelet was testifying on Power's future dangerousness. Whether the doctor was for or against the death penalty was a completely collateral issue not justifying the time and clouding of issues Power attempted.

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